
 

AGENDA FOR 
 
EMPLOYMENT PANEL 

 

 
Contact: Kelly Barnett 

Direct Line: 0161 253 5130 
E-mail: kelly.barnett@bury.gov.uk 
Web Site:  www.bury.gov.uk 

 
 
To: All Members of Employment Panel 
 

Councillors : T Rafiq (Chair), R Bernstein, R Brown, 

S Butler, R Gold, J Grimshaw, T Holt, J Mason and 
T Pickstone 

 
 
Dear Member/Colleague 

 
Employment Panel 

 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Employment Panel which will 
be held as follows:- 

 

Date: Tuesday, 5 April 2022 

Place:  Council Chamber - Town Hall 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 
briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the related 

report should be contacted. 

Notes:  



AGENDA 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES   

 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
Members of the Employment Panel are asked to consider 
whether they have an interest in any of the matters on the Agenda, and if 
so, to formally declare that interest. 
 

3   PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE EMPLOYEE CODE OF CONDUCT AND 
OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE  (Pages 3 - 40) 

 
Report from the Director of People and Inclusion is attached. 

 

4   HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE PLACE BASED LEAD AND EXECUTIVE 

LEAD  (Pages 41 - 58) 
 

Report of Leader of the Council is attached. 
 

5   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
To consider passing the appropriate resolution under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business since they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information relating to employees of the authority. 
 

 

6   PERMANENT APPOINTMENT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE  (Pages 59 - 66) 
 
Report from Chief Executive attached  

 

7   REDESIGNATION OF THE POST OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
MANAGER TO HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES  (Pages 67 - 80) 

 
A report of the Director of Law and Governance is attached.  

 

8   URGENT BUSINESS   

 
Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
agrees may be considered as a matter of urgency. 

 



 

  
 

 

Meeting:  Employment Panel  

 

Meeting date:  5th March 2022 
 

Title of report:  Bury Council Constitution Update: Employees’ Code of Conduct 
and Officer Employment Procedure Rules  

 

Report by:  Director of People & Inclusion 

Decision Type: Council 

Ward(s) to which 

report relates 
All 

 

Executive Summary:  

The Council’s constitution was reviewed and updated during the municipal year 2020/21.  

In considering the new Constitution, Members agreed that it would be reviewed annually 

to ensure that the changes proposed as a result of the review were fit for purpose.  

Following agreement at Standards Committee and Council in November 2021 Members 

agreed a work programme for future review which included both the Employees’ Code of 

Conduct and the Officer Employment Procedure Rules. The constitution stipulates that 

oversight of the Council Constitution is a function of the Standards Committee.  However, 

these elements of the Constitution are pertinent to the work of the Employment Panel.  

The Employees’ Code of Conduct and the Officer Employment Procedure Rules have 

been reviewed taking account of feedback from Members and Officers, contextual 

changes and best practice. Copies of the revised sections of the Constitution are set out 

below for the Employment Panel’s endorsement. Subject to this, they will be included 

within the full Constitution for approval by Council in May.  

The proposed changes to the Officer Employment Procedure Rules also necessitate a 

small amendment to the Terms of Reference for the Employment Panel, which are also 

proposed below.   

Recommendation(s)  

The Employment Panel is asked to: 

1. Review the suggest revised Employees’ Code of Conduct and the Officer 

Employment Procedure Rules and forward for onward consideration to Annual 

Council as part of the full constitution review. 
 

Classification 

 
Open  

Item No. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



2. Subject to agreement of the revised Officer Employment Procedure Rules as part of 

the annual Constitution review, agree a revision to the Employment Panel Terms of 

Reference as detailed below.  

Key considerations  

1. Background and Context 
 

1.1 The Constitution sets out how the Council operates; how decisions are made and 
the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent 
and accountable to local people. The Council has a legal duty to publish an up-to-

date Constitution and review regularly. 
 

1.2 The Constitution must contain:   
a) the Council's standing orders/procedure rules;   
b) the members' code of conduct;   

c) such information as the Secretary of State may direct;  
d) such other information (if any) as the authority considers appropriate 

 
1.3 A Constitution Direction was issued by the Secretary of State in December 2000 

requiring 80 matters to be included within council constitutions, covering members' 

allowances schemes, details of procedures for meetings, details of joint 
arrangements with other local authorities and a description of the rights of 

inhabitants of the area.   
 
1.4 Bury’s Council Constitution is organised into 9 Parts (many divided into a number of 

sections).  The existing Council's Constitution is available on the Council's external 
website.  

 

1.5 As part of the annual review of the Constitution Officers have considered the 

Employees’ Code of Conduct and the Officer Employment Procedure Rules. These 
documents are relevant to the work of the Employment Panel and the proposed 

changes are summarised  below for the Panel’s consideration with the full 
documents appended.  

 

2. Employees’ Code of Conduct    
 

2.1 The Employee’ Code of Conduct is a key part of the Council’s overall employee 

policy framework setting out the Council’s core expectations of staff as public 
servants. The existing Code of Conduct is clear and robust. However, a number 

of minor amendments are proposed to ensure the document fully reflects 
standards and expectations in a number of areas which have evolved over 
recent years specifically: 

1. Reference to the Whistleblowing Policy has been included 

2. Inclusion of expectations around the handling and disclosure of personal and 
sensitive data has been added  

3. Wording around Employee/Councillor relationships has been strengthened  

4. Reference to the Declaration of Interests process in relation to outside 
commitments and personal interests has been added  

Page 4



5. Reference to the Gifts and Hospitality declaration process has been added.  

2.2 The full proposed revised Code is appended below as Appendix 1.  

 
3. Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

3.1  This part of the Constitution sets out the Council’s arrangements for the
 appointment of Officers, including Chief Officers and the Chief Executive. In 

response to feedback from Members and Officers a number of revisions are 
proposed specifically:   

1. At present the Constitution specifies the arrangements for the appointment of 
Chief Officers and the Head of Paid Service where this is not proposed to be 

made exclusively from existing employees but does not include a procedure 
where this is the proposal. Arrangements for this eventuality have now been 
included.  

2. The Leader of the Council has been included as a full Member of the 

appointment panel for Head of Paid Service 

3. The relevant Cabinet Member(s) have been included as full Member(s) of the 

appointment panel for Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers as defined. This 
had been normal practice via the former Human Resources and Appeals Panel 

but does not align with the current wording of the procedures  

4. The requirement to inform Members of the Cabinet of any appointments to 

Chief Officers/Deputy Chief Officer roles has been retained. However, 
clarification has been added to confirm that this is for information only and that 

the ultimate appointment decision rests with the Employment Panel.  

3.2 The full proposed revised Procedure Rules are appended below as Appendix 2. A 

small revision to the Terms of Reference of this Committee is required to ensure 
they align with point 3 above. Revised Terms of Reference are appended below as 
Appendix 3. 

 

 

  

 

  

Page 5



______________________________________________________________________ 

Community impact/links with Community Strategy 

An up-to-date Constitution will ensure decision are taken lawfully and in an open and 
transparent manner. 

 

Equality Impact and considerations: 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is set 
out as follows:  

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to –  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under this Act;  

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  

The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can 

positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and demonstrate 

that we are paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of policies and in the 

delivery of services.  

Equality Analysis Please provide a written explanation of the outcome(s) of either 

conducting an initial or full EA. 

An up to date Constitution will ensure decisions contribute to the advancement of 

equality and good relations, and demonstrate that we are paying ‘due regard’ in our 
decision making in the design of policies and in the delivery of services.  

 

Assessment of Risk:  

The following risks apply to the decision:  

  

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Legal Challenge An up-to-date Constitution will ensure 
decisions are taken lawfully and in an 

open and transparent manner. 

  

Page 6



Consultation: 

The proposed changes have been shared with the Trade Unions and supported at the 

most recent Joint Consultative Committee. 

 

Legal Implications: 

Members are asked to consider a revised Employees’ Code of Conduct and the Officer 

Employment Procedure Rules and revision to the Employment Panel Terms of reference. 

These documents are part of the rolling review of the constitution. If members are minded 

to agree then Council will be asked to agree to the constitution revisions at its annual 

meeting in May 2022.  

 

Financial Implications: 

There are no financial implications arising from this Report. 

_______________________________________________________________________   

Report Author and Contact Details: 

 

Sam McVaigh 

Director of People & Inclusion 

Email: s.mcvaigh@bury.gov.uk  

Page 7

mailto:s.mcvaigh@bury.gov.uk


Appendix 1: 

Section 2 - Employees' code of conduct 

 

Local Employees/Officers' Code of conduct, consistent with a model  code yet to be issued by the 

Secretary of State, will be inserted here in due course. 

 

1.0 Standards 

1.1 Local government employees are expected to give the highest possible  standard of service to 

the public, and where it is part of their duties, to provide  appropriate advice to councillors and 

fellow employees with impartiality. Employees will be expected, through agreed procedures and 

without fear of recrimination, to bring to the attention of their immediate supervisor any 

deficiency in the provision of service. Employees must report to their immediate  supervisor any 

impropriety or breach of procedure. The Council also has a Whistleblowing Policy which sets out 

arrangements for raising certain types of concerns and the associated legal protections.  

 

2.0 Disclosure of Information 

2.1 It is generally accepted that open government is best. The law requires that certain types of 

information must be available to members, auditors, government departments, service users and 

the public. 

2.2 Committee agendas and most reports and background papers are required by law to be 

available for public inspection. Detailed guidance is available from the Director of Law and 

Democratic Services. Obstruction of a Member of the  public who wishes to exercise these rights is 

a criminal offence. 

2.3 No employee shall communicate to the public the proceedings of any 'closed' Committee or 

meeting associated with the business of any Committee, nor the content of any document relating 

to the authority, unless required by law or expressly authorised by the Chief Executive to do so. 

Employees making unauthorised communications shall render themselves liable to disciplinary 

action. 

2.4 Employees should follow any specific ground rules adopted by the authority  in relation to 

commercially sensitive information or personal and sensitive personal data.  

2.5 Employees should not use any information obtained in the course of their employment for 

personal gain or benefit, nor should they pass it on to others who might use it in such a way. Any 

particular information received by an employee from a councillor which is personal to that 

councillor and does not belong to the authority such as details of her/his marital/domestic 

arrangements, should not be divulged by the employee without the prior approval of that 

councillor, except where such disclosure is required or sanctioned by the law

Page 8



3.0 Political Neutrality 

3.1 Employees serve the authority as a whole. It follows they must serve all  councillors and not 

just those of the controlling group, and must ensure that the  individual rights of all councillors are 

respected. 

3.2 Subject to the authority's conventions, employees may also be required to advise political 

groups. They must do so in ways which do not compromise their political neutrality. 

3.3 Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow every lawful expressed policy 

of the authority and must not allow their own personal or political opinions to interfere with 

their work. 

3.4 Should the authority decide to appoint political assistants in accordance with  the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989 these employees would be exempt from the standards set in 

paragraphs 3.1 to 3.3. 

 

4.0 Relationships 

4.1 Councillors - Employees are responsible to the authority through its senior managers. For 

some, their role is to give advice to councillors and senior managers and all are there to carry out 

the authority's work. Mutual respect between employees and councillors is essential to good local 

government. Close personal familiarity between employees and individual councillors can damage  

the relationship and prove embarrassing to other employees and councillors and must therefore be 

avoided. 

4.2 The Local Community and Service Users - Employees should always remember their 

responsibilities to the community they serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial 

service delivery to all groups and individuals within that community as defined by the policies of 

the authority. 

4.3 Contractors - All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors or 

potential contractors, should be made known to your immediate supervisor and recorded via the 

Council’s declaration of interest process which shall be available for inspection by Members of the  

Council. Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit by fair competition against other tenders, 

and no special favour should be shown to businesses run by, for example, friends, partners or 

relatives in the tendering process. No part     of the local community should be discriminated against. 

4.4 Employees who engage or supervise contractors or have any other official  relationship with 

contractors and have previously had or currently have a relationship in a private or domestic 

capacity with contractors, should declare that relationship to their immediate supervisor and this 

should be recorded via the Council’s declaration of interests process. 

Page 9



5.0 Appointment and Other Employment Matters 

5.1 Employees involved in appointments should ensure that these are made on the basis of merit. 

It would be unlawful for an employee to make an appointment which was based on anything other 

than the ability of the candidate to undertake the duties of the post. In order to avoid any possible 

accusation of bias, employees should not be involved in an appointment where they are related to 

an applicant, or have a close personal relationship outside work with them. Where a Senior Officer 

has power to engage an employee they shall not appoint any relative to such a position without first 

referring the proposed appointment to the Director of People and Inclusion. 

5.2 Similarly, employees should not be involved in decisions relating to discipline, 

promotion or pay adjustments for any other employee who is a relative, partner, etc. 

 

6.0 Outside Commitments 

6.1 Some employees have conditions of service which require them to obtain written consent to 

take any outside employment. All employees should be clear about their contractual obligations 

and should not take outside employment which conflicts with the authority's interests. 

Employees are advised to discuss any such issues with their immediate supervisor and disclose 

this via the Council’s declaration of interests process. 

6.2 Apart from those employees whose conditions of service require them to obtain written 

consent to take any outside employment, it is not intended that employees be prevented from 

takin g outside employment except where such employment would conflict with the  authority's 

interests. 

6.3 Employees should have regard to the ownership of intellectual property or copyright arising 

out of and during the course of their employment and act in accordance with any rules of the 

authority which may be in force. 

 

7.0 Personal Interests 

7.1 Employees must declare to their immediate supervisor any non-financial interests that 

they consider could bring about conflict with the authority's interests and disclose this via the 

Council’s declaration of interests process. 

7.2 Employees must declare to their immediate supervisor any financial interests which could 

conflict with the authority's interests and disclose this via the Council’s declaration of interests 

process. 

7.3 In the case of any matter under consideration by the Council or any other application to the 

Council where employees or any close relative have a personal  interest, whether pecuniary or 

otherwise, they should, if such matter or application falls to be dealt with by the Department in 

which they are employed, inform their immediate supervisor of their interest as soon as they 

become aware of the matter or application concerned. The immediate supervisor must then 

ensure that all aspects of the matter or application are conducted or supervised by an employee 

more senior to the individual who has declared the personal interest. On no account must 

employees be directly involved in the processing of any matter or application in which they or any 

close relative have a personal interest. 

Page 10



7.4 The definition of a close relative shall be as set out in the the Local Conditions of Service 

(Appendix H). A copy of the documentis available on the Council’s intranet or through Human 

Resources. 

7.5 Employees should declare to their immediate supervisor membership of any organisation not 

open to the public without formal membership and commitment of allegiance and which has secrecy 

about rules or membership or conduct. 

7.6 Any declarations referred to in Section 7 shall be recorded in a register kept for that purpose by 

Human Resources for inspection by Members of the  Council. 

 

8.0 Equality Issues 

8.1 All local government employees should ensure that policies relating to equality issues as 

agreed by the authority are complied with in addition to the requirements of the law. All 

members of the local community, customers and other employees have a right to be treated 

with fairness and equality. 

 

9.0 Separation of Roles During Tendering 

9.1 Employees involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors should be clear on 

the separation of client and contractor roles within the authority. Senior employees who have both 

a client and contractor responsibility must be aware of the need for accountability and openness 

and at time discretion and confidentiality. 

9.2 Employees in contractor or client units must exercise fairness and impartiality when 

dealing with all customers, suppliers, other contractors and sub-contractors, in accordance with 

any policies and rules determined by the Council.  

9.3 Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for either internal or 

external contractors should not disclose that information to any unauthorised party or organisation. 

9.4 Employees contemplating a management buyout should, as soon as they have formed a 

definite intent, inform their immediate supervisor and withdraw from the contract awarding 

processes. 

9.5 Employees should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former 

employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in 

Page 11



awarding contracts to businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or 

relevant managerial capacity. 

 

10.0 Use of Financial Resources 

10.1 Employees must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them in a responsible and 

lawful manner. They should strive to ensure value for money for the Council and to the local 

community and to avoid legal challenge to the authority. 

 

11.0 Corruption 

11.1 Employees must be aware that it is a serious criminal offence for them corruptly to receive or 

give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for doing, or not doing, anything or showing favour, or 

disfavour, to any person in their official capacity. If charged with this offence it is for the employee 

to demonstrate that any such rewards have not been corruptly obtained. 

11.2 Rewards corruptly obtained will put your job at risk and are punishable by  up to seven years' 

imprisonment. 

 

12.0 Gifts and Hospitality 

12.1 There can be little doubt that the acceptance of gifts by employees from persons who have, or 

may seek to have, dealings with their authority would be viewed by the public with grave suspicion 

and would make the employee concerned and the Council extremely vulnerable to criticism. An 

employee should, therefore, tactfully refuse any personal gift which is offered to him/her or a close 

relative by, or indirectly attributable to any person or body who has, or may have, dealings of any 

kind whatsoever with the Council or, who has applied, or may apply, to the Council for any planning 

or other kind of decision. 

12.2 The only exceptions to this rule are: 

 
 (a) small gifts of only token value often given by way of trade advertisements to a wide 

range of people, e.g. calendars, diaries, tape measures and similar articles of use in the 
workplace; or 

 (b) small gifts of only token value given on the conclusion of a courtesy visit, e.g. to a 
factory or other premises 

 
12.3 If there is any doubt about whether a gift may be accepted the gift should be politely and 

tactfully refused. Any gifts or hospitality should be declared as part of the Council’s process and 

recorded by Human Resources. 

12.4 Employees are reminded that under provisions of Section 117 of the Local  Government Act 

1972, they are forbidden to accept any fee or reward other than their proper remuneration and 

any person who contravenes this provision would be liable, on summary conviction, to a fine not 

exceeding £2,500. (Subject to review). 

Page 12



12.5 In the event of an employee receiving a gift without warning, which does not fall in any of 

the exceptions mentioned above, this should immediately be reported to a Chief Officer who will 

be responsible for deciding whether the gift should be returned. 

12.6 If any employee becomes aware that he/she has been included as the  beneficiary in the 

Will of a client, for whom the Council offers or used to offer a service where there is a connection 

with the employee's work, the above rules apply. 

12.7 Employees should only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need to impart 

information or represent the local authority in the community. Offers to attend purely social or 

sporting functions should be accepted only when these are part of the life of the community or 

where the authority should be seen to be represented. They should be properly authorised and 

recorded in a register kept for that purpose by Human Resources. 

12.8 When hospitality has to be declined those making the offer should be  courteously but 

firmly informed of the procedures and standards operating within the authority. 

12.9 When receiving authorised hospitality employees should be particularly  sensitive as to 

its timing in relation to decisions which the authority may be taking affecting those providing 

the hospitality. 

12.10 Acceptance by employees of hospitality through attendance at relevant conferences and 

courses is acceptable where it is clear the hospitality is corporate rather than personal, where 

the authority gives consent in advance and where the authority is satisfied that any purchasing 

decisions are not compromised. Where visits to inspect equipment etc. are required, employees 

should ensure that the authority meets the cost of such visits to avoid jeopardising the integrity 

of subsequent purchasing decisions. 

12.11 Employees must refuse offers of hospitality where any suggestion of improper influence 

would be inferred. Special caution is necessary where hospitality is offered by a person or body 

having or seeking business with, or a decision from the authority, particularly where the offer is to 

an individual employee. 

12.12 Concerning offers of hospitality there should be no cause for concern if the  offer is made by 

another non-commercial public body but in all other cases offers of hospitality must be treated with 

caution. 

12.13 Hospitality should only be accepted where it is on a scale appropriate to the 

circumstances, reasonably incidental to the occasion and not extravagant and where it is 

apparent that no cause could reasonably arise for adverse criticism about the acceptance of 

hospitality. 

Page 13



13.0 Sponsorship - Giving and Receiving 

13.1 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor a local government activity, whether by 

invitation, tender, negotiation or voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning acceptance of 

gifts or hospitality apply. Particular care must be taken when dealing with contractors or potential 

contractors. 

13.2 Where the authority wishes to sponsor an event or service neither an employee nor any 

partner, spouse or relative must benefit from such sponsorship in a direct way without there being 

full disclosure to their immediate  supervisor of any such interest. Similarly, where the authority 

through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, gives support in the community, 

employees should ensure that impartial advice is given and that there is no conflict of interest 

involved. 

13.3 Any declaration of an interest will be recorded in a register kept for that purpose by 

Human Resources. The register will be available for inspection by Members. 

 

14.0 Interpretation 

14.1 Any interpretation of this Code should be determined by the Director of People and 

Inclusion after consultation with the Cabinet Member for Corporate Affairs and Human 

Resources. 

 

15.0 Disciplinary Action 

15.1 Any serious contravention of this Code may result in disciplinary  proceedings. 

 

16.0 Grievance Procedure 

16.1 An employee who has a grievance arising from the interpretation of the  Code shall have 

access to the Council's Grievance Procedure. 

16.2 Any officer or Member who has been involved in an interpretation of the  Code which 

results in a grievance arising should not be involved in the consideration of that grievance. 

 

17.0 Application of Code 

17.1The Code embodies general guidance for all employees of the Council. It is  recognised, however, 

that specific arrangements may be made at Departmental level to address circumstances/situations 

encountered by certain employees. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



Appendix 2:  

 

Section 8 - Officer employment procedure rules 

(Standing Orders relating to Staff) 

4.8.1. Recruitment and Appointment 

(a) Declarations 

(i) The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for appointment as an Officer to 

state in writing whether they are the parent, grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, 

grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an existing Councillor or officer of the 

Council; or of the partner of such persons. 

(ii) No candidate so related to a Councillor or an Officer will be appointed without       the authority of the 

relevant Chief Officer or an Officer nominated by him/her. 

 

(b) Seeking support for appointment 

(i) The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks the  support of any 

Councillor for any appointment with the Council. The content of  this paragraph will be included in 

any recruitment information. 

(ii) No Councillor will seek support for any person for any appointment with the  Council. 

 

4.8.2. Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief 

Officers 

(i) Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer from amongst its 

existing officers the Executive Director of the department concerned should: 

(a) Consult with the appropriate Cabinet Member(s) and prepare a report to 

the Employment Panel with the rationale, evidence around existing 

officers’ suitability and why it is not considered necessary to advertise 

externally. 

(b) If agreed, expressions of interest would be sought from relevant existing 

Officers outlining how the criteria for the role are met and a shortlist will 

be  prepared. 

(c) An appointment process will follow as outlined below.  

 (ii) If it is not proposed that  the appointment be made exclusively from among 

their existing officers, the Council will: 

(a) draw up a statement specifying: 

(i) the duties of the officer concerned; and 

(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be  appointed. 

Page 15



(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is 

likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for 

it; and 

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in 

paragraph(a) above to be sent to any person on request. 

(d) follow an appropriate recruitment process as outlined below.  

 

4.8.3. Appointment of Head of Paid Service 

(a) The full Council must confirm the appointment of the Head of Paid Service  following the 

recommendation of such an appointment by a sub-group of the Employment Panel with the Leader 

of the Council as a full member of the Appointment Panel.   

(b) An offer of an appointment as Head of Paid Service must not be made by the  Council until: 

(i) The Council has notified the Director of People and Inclusion of the name of  the person 

to whom the Council wishes to make the offer and of any other              particulars which the Council 

considers are relevant to the appointment; 

(ii) The Director of People and Inclusion has notified (for information) every 

member of Cabinet of: 

(a) the name of the person to whom the Council wishes to make the offer; 

(b) any other particulars relevant to the appointment which the Council has 

notified to the Director of People and Inclusion;  

(iii)  and the Director of People and Inclusion seeks agreement on the appointment 

from a meeting of Full Council. 

 

4.8.4. Appointment of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief 

Officers 

(a) A sub-group of the Employment Panel of the Council will appoint Chief Officers and Deputy 

Chief Officers, with the relevant Member(s)   of the Cabinet as full member(s) of the Appointment 

Panel for these purposes. 

(b) The Chief Officer and Deputy Chief Officers posts subject to Rule 4 of the  Officer 

Employment Rules are as defined in Section 2 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 

4.8.5. Other Appointments 

(a) Officers below Deputy Chief Officer 

The appointment of officers below Deputy Chief Officer (other than assistants to  

political groups) is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his/her 

nominee, and may not be made by Councillors. 

 

(b) Assistants to political groups 

Page 16



The appointment of an assistant to a political group shall be made in accordance 

with the wishes of that political group. 

Page 17



4.8.6. Disciplinary Action - Head of Paid 

Service, 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 

(To be considered in conjunction with the Disciplinary Procedure for Head of Paid 

Service, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer - Appendix A) 

(1) The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and S151-Chief Finance Officer may be 

suspended whilst an investigation takes place into alleged misconduct. That suspension will be on 

full pay and will be reviewed after two months. 

(2) The Council must approve the dismissal or other disciplinary action in relation to the Head of 

Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or the S151-Chief Finance Officer following the 

recommendation of dismissal or disciplinary action by the Employment Panel (the Investigating 

and Disciplinary Committee - IDC) and an Independent Panel. 

(d) The IDC will set up an initial meeting to inform the officer of the allegation, hear 

any representations and evidence from the officer and determine whether or not there 

is a case to answer. If it is determined that there is a case to answer an independent 

investigator will be appointed. 

(e) Following receipt of the investigation report the IDC will conduct a Hearing to consider 

the findings/ recommendations, hear the officer's case and question any witnesses. 

(f) If a disciplinary sanction/dismissal is proposed the Panel will notify the  Director of 

People and Inclusion who will, through Democratic Services, notify every Member of the 

Cabinet of the name of the person and relevant details of the sanction or dismissal and give 

the opportunity for them to object/period of time to do this. 

(g) Objections should be made through the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the 

Director of People and Inclusion; and either:- 

(i) the Leader has, within the period specified in the notice under Rule 6(d)(ii)(c), 

notified the Panel that neither he/she nor any other Member of the Cabinet has any 

objection to the making of the offer; 

(ii) the Director of People and Inclusion has notified the Panel that no objection 

was received within that period from the Leader; or 

(iii) the Panel is satisfied that any objection received from the 

Leader/Cabinet within that period is not material or is not well founded. 

(h) The IDC's proposed decision will then be put to an Independent Panel: 

Page 18



(3) The Independent Panel will be established comprising of two or more  independent 

panel members: 

 an independent person appointed by the Council who is a local government 

elector 

 any other independent person appointed by the Council 

 an independent person who has been appointed by another Council 

 The Panel will: 

 hear the evidence of the investigator 

 hear oral representation from the officer 

 hear evidence from any witnesses 

 hear the response/proposals from the IDC 

The Panel will consider all of the evidence and review the proposed decision from 

the IDC. A report will be prepared by the Independent Panel for Council with a 

clear recommendation as to whether or not they feel the officer should receive a 

disciplinary sanction or be dismissed. If they disagree with the IDC's proposals 

to issue a disciplinary sanction or dismiss, the report should include a clear 

rationale of the reasons why. 

If the Panel are in agreement with the IDC's proposals the officer should be 

informed of this in writing and given the right of appeal. 

(4) Under the 2015 regulations any decision to issue a disciplinary sanction or dismiss will be taken 

by full Council, who will take into account any advice, views or recommendations of the Independent 

Panel. 

A special meeting of Council will be set up by Democratic Services and will take 

place at least 20 working days after the meeting of the Independent Panel. 

At the meeting, which will also act as the officer's appeal if they have appealed, 

the case will be reviewed (a full re-hearing will not take place). 

In addition: 

 the officer will make representation first as this will effectively be their opportunity to 

appeal 

 the advice, views and recommendations of the Independent Panel will be  taken into 

consideration 

 the conclusions from the investigation will be considered Council may 

decide: 

 to remove the disciplinary sanction or determine a lesser sanction 

 to overturn the dismissal and award a lesser sanction (formal warning or action short of 

dismissal) 

 to confirm the disciplinary sanction or dismissal of the officer Decisions 

must be approved by way of a vote. 

Page 19



4.8.7. Disciplinary Action - Chief Officers and Deputy 

Chief Officers (other than the Head of Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer) 

(a) The Employment Panel shall approve the dismissal of or  other disciplinary action in relation 

to Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (other than the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 

Officer or the Chief Finance Officer). 

(b) Notice of the dismissal of the Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer (other than the Head of 

Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer)  must not be given by the Director 

of People and Inclusion until: 

(i) the Panel has notified the Director of People and Inclusion of the person who the Panel 

wishes to dismiss and other particulars which the Panel  considers are relevant to the 

dismissal; 

(ii) the Director of People and Inclusion has notified every Member of the  Cabinet 

of; 

(a) the name of the person who the Panel wishes to dismiss; 

(b) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the Panel has notified to 

the Director of People and Inclusion; and 

(iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to be  made by the Leader on 

behalf of the Cabinet to the Director of People and Inclusion and; Either: 

(i) the Leader has, within the period specified in the notice under Rule 7(b)(ii)(c), 

notified the Panel that neither he/she nor any other Member of the Cabinet has any 

objection to the dismissal; 

(ii) the Director of People and Inclusion has notified the Panel that no objection 

was received by him within that period from the Leader; or 

(iii) the Panel is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader/Cabinet 

within that period is not material or is not well founded. 

 

4.8.8. Disciplinary Action - Other Officers 

Other than hearing Appeals against dismissal, Councillors shall not be involved 

in the dismissal of or disciplinary action in relation to any Officer below Deputy 

Chief Officer except where such involvement is necessary for any investigation 

or enquiry into alleged misconduct and also through the Council's Disciplinary, 

Capability and Related Procedures as adopted from time to time, which may 

allow a right of appeal to Members in respect of such action. 

Page 20



 

 

 

Appendix A 

Disciplinary Procedure for Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and 

Monitoring Officer 

 

Background 

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as 

amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015) provide a degree of protection for chief executives and certain 

statutory chief officers (section 151 and monitoring officers) against 

unwarranted political interference in their roles as Head of Paid Service, Section 

151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

These changes have been incorporated into the Council Constitution and new 

procedures are required to be formalised. 

 

Scope 

This procedure sits alongside the Model Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance as 

outlined in the Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Chief Executives National 

Salary Framework and Conditions of Service Handbook (updated 13 October 

2016) and will be used to manage the disciplinary process for the Head of Paid 

Service, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

Should any cases involving allegations against any of these three officers also  

implicate other officers and there is one investigation, this higher level procedure 

will be used for all officers under investigation. 

Where the procedure refers to a Hearing, the process will follow the Council's 

Hearing Procedure. 

Democratic Services, in conjunction with HR, will be responsible for arranging all 

meetings / hearings. 

 

Right to be accompanied 

The JNC procedure provides that at all stages, officers have the right to be 

accompanied by a trade union representative or some other person of their 

choice at their own cost. The only exception being, if an emergency suspension 

needs to take place where there is a serious risk identified. 

The disciplinary procedure cannot be delayed, however, due to the unavailability 

of representative although every effort will be made to arrange dates that are 

mutually convenient. 

The statutory right to be accompanied applies in disciplinary hearings where 

decisions around disciplinary action, a disciplinary sanction or an appeal are 

Page 21



taken. In these cases should the officer's representative be unavailable to attend 

we will postpone the Hearing for up to a week when the Hearing will go ahead 

regardless of the representative's availability. 

 

Informal Resolution 

If possible, an informal resolution should be sought and the Council will pay full 

regard to the principles within the ACAS handbook. The advice of the Joint 

Secretaries may also be sought. Formal action should be a last resort. 

 

Formal Procedure 

Suspension 

The decision to suspend the Chief Executive, S151 Officer or Monitoring Officer 

must be considered carefully taking into account the nature of the allegations, 

the effect on the officer and potential reputational damage to the Council. 

The Deputy Chief Executive has delegated authority to suspend in relevant 

circumstances in conjunction with the Leader of the Council and relevant Cabinet 

Member. Suspension should be reviewed by the IDC after 2 months. 

 

Investigating and Disciplinary Committee - initial meeting 

As part of the procedure, an Investigating and Disciplinary Committee (IDC) is 

required to be set up. This committee will be politically balanced and will consist 

of a panel of five members, including at least one cabinet member. Members 

appointed to the panel should have no prior knowledge or conflicts of interest in 

the case/officer involved. 

Prior to the initial meeting, the Council should shortlist three people (or less if 

three are not available) from a list of independent investigators held by the Joint 

Secretaries to conduct an investigation should the IDC decide that this is the 

appropriate way forward. 

The IDC's initial role will be to inform the officer of the allegations in writing, 

providing any evidence that might require investigation. The officer will be 

invited to put forward any written representations and evidence to the meeting 

(this includes any written evidence from witnesses they wish to be considered at 

this stage). The officer will also be invited to attend the meeting to make oral 

representations. If they do not attend their written representations will be taken 

into account. 

At the meeting, the IDC will consider any evidence presented by the officer, 

either in writing or in person, and determine if it is appropriate to call the 

witnesses at this stage before any decision is taken. The IDC may decide: 

 no further formal action is taken, or 

 there is a case to answer and an investigation is required, or 

Page 22



 to consider other actions (for example mediation, use of a different procedure, 

mutual termination etc.) 

If the IDC decides that there is a case to answer they will appoint an 

independent investigator. 

They will also consider if it is appropriate to suspend the officer. If the officer has 

already been suspended under emergency powers, the IDC will review the 

decision to determine whether or not the suspension stands. Suspension will be 

further reviewed by the IDC after 2 months. 

The officer will be informed of the decision in writing. 

 

Investigation 

The Joint Secretaries hold a list of independent investigators. Once the options 

of independent investigators from the list are determined suitable by the 

Council, the officer will be invited to select an investigator from the list (if no  

selection is made within 14 days of the names being supplied the Council should 

select an investigator from the list). 

The role of the investigator will be to establish the facts and collate evidence. 

The investigation should remain confidential, impartial, and should be speedy 

and thorough. 

The investigator will prepare a report to the IDC outlining: 

 the facts of the case 

 findings and evidence 

 their opinion as to whether or not they believe that the evidence gathered supports the 

allegation and the need for disciplinary action to be taken 

 their recommendations as to what disciplinary action they believe to be  appropriate 

 

IDC - Hearing 

On receipt of the investigation report, the IDC will conduct a Hearing which will: 

 consider the findings, report and recommendations of the independent investigator 

including any new material evidence material to the allegations 

 give the officer the opportunity to state their case 

 question any witnesses where relevant The IDC 

may decide on the following outcomes: 

1. No further action should be taken - the officer should be informed and appropriate 

communication prepared to ensure no damage to the officer's reputation 

2. The issue should be resolved informally or through another procedure 

Page 23



3. The case should be referred back to the investigator for further investigation - this should 

be only when it is absolutely necessary in order to made a decision (for example to 

investigate any new evidence) 

4. To take action short of dismissal (ie to issue a disciplinary sanction) - the officer should be 

notified of this and given the right of appeal 

5. To recommend to Council to dismiss the officer 

Where the IDC proposes to recommend to dismiss the officer, the Leader and all 

members of the Cabinet should be informed and given the opportunity to object. 

This part of the process should be carried out by the Deputy Chief Executive in 

conjunction with Democratic Services and any objections from the Cabinet 

should be made through the Leader. 

The IDC will then reconvene to consider any objections and reaffirm their 

proposed recommendations to dismiss. 

The IDC's proposed recommendations to dismiss should then be put to an 

Independent Panel. 

The IDC will reconvene once the report from the independent panel is received 

to consider the recommendation to dismiss. If the recommendations to dismiss 

do not change, the officer will be informed of the decision at this point and given 

the right to appeal. This will be to full Council. 

Should the IDC decide not to dismiss, other options should be considered (see 

above IDC outcomes). 

 

Independent Panel 

If a recommendation to dismiss is made by the IDC an Independent Panel (IP) 

will be established comprising of three independent panel members (or at least 

2) who are: 

 an independent person appointed by the Council who is a local  government 

elector in this borough 

 an independent person appointed by the Counci l for the purpose of the Council 

members conduct regime under the Localism Act 2011 

 an independent person appointed by another Council for the purpose of  the Council 

members conduct regime under the Localism Act 2011 

The IP will be held in accordance with the Council's Hearing Procedure and will 

take place at least 20 working days before the meeting of the Council. The IP 

will offer advice, views or recommendations to the Council at which the 

recommendation for dismissal will be considered. It will: 

 receive the IDC recommendations and reasons - presented by the Chair of the IDC 

 receive the report from the independent investigator, who will be invited to the IP to 

provide clarification if required 

Page 24



 receive oral/written representations from the officer, who will be invited to attend 

 hear evidence from any witnesses 

 ask questions of either party 

The IP will consider all of the evidence and formulate any advice, views or 

recommendations it wishes to make to Council on the proposal to dismiss the 

officer. A report will be prepared for the IDC / Council. If they disagree with the 

IDC's proposals to dismiss, the report should include a clear rationale of the 

reasons why. 

 

Council 

Where there is a proposal to dismiss the Head of Paid Service, S151 Officer or 

Monitoring Officer, Council must approve the dismissal before notice of dismissal 

is issued. 

A special meeting of Council will be set up by Democratic Services and will take 

place at least 20 working days after the meeting of the Independent Panel. 

Given the thoroughness and independence of the previous stages it will not be 

appropriate for Council to undertake a full re-hearing of the case and the 

meeting will review the case, the proposal to dismiss and any other 

evidence/representations. This stage will also act as the officer's appeal against 

the proposal to dismiss. In addition: 

 the officer will attend and make representation first as this will effectively  be their 

opportunity to appeal 

 the Chair of the IDC will attend and present the proposal to 

dismiss/reasons 

 the advice, views and recommendations of the Independent Panel will be  taken into 

consideration 

 the conclusions from the investigation will be considered Council will 

have three options: 

 to confirm the dismissal of the officer - this should be communicated to the officer as 

soon as possible 

 to reject the proposal to dismiss the officer, ie no sanction - this should be communicated to 

the officer and communications prepared to ensure as far as possible there is no damage to 

their reputation 

 Impose a lesser sanction or refer back to the IDC to determine the lesser sanction 

 

Appeals Committee 

Appeal Hearings against disciplinary action (action short of dismissal) will be 

heard by an Appeals Committee which will be politically balanced, include at 

Page 25



least one cabinet member and will comprise of five elected members who were 

not members of the IDC. 

Its purpose is to hear the officer's representation and review the case/decision 

taken by the IDC, IP and consider the investigation report along with any other 

evidence relating to the case. They will also conduct any further investigations 

necessary to enable them to reach a decision. 

The Panel may decide: 

 to confirm the sanction given 

 no sanction should be given - communications should be agreed with the officer to ensure 

as far as possible no damage to their reputation) 

 a lesser sanction should be given 

The decision of the Appeals Committee is final. 
 

 

Section 8 - Officer employment procedure rules 

(Standing Orders relating to Staff) 

4.8.9. Recruitment and Appointment 

(c) Declarations 

(ii) The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for appointment as an Officer to 

state in writing whether they are the parent, grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, 

grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an existing Councillor or officer of the 

Council; or of the partner of such persons. 

(ii) No candidate so related to a Councillor or an Officer will be appointed without       the authority of the 
relevant Chief Officer or an Officer nominated by him/her. 

 

(d) Seeking support for appointment 

(iii) The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks the  support of any 

Councillor for any appointment with the Council. The content of  this paragraph will be included in 

any recruitment information. 

(iv) No Councillor will seek support for any person for any appointment with the  Council. 

 

4.8.10. Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and 

Chief Officers 

(i) Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer from amongst its 

existing officers the Executive Director of the department concerned should: 

(d) Consult with the appropriate Cabinet Member(s) and prepare a report to 

the Employment Panel with the rationale, evidence around existing 

Page 26



officers’ suitability and why it is not considered necessary to advertise 

externally. 

(e) If agreed, expressions of interest would be sought from relevant existing 

Officers outlining how the criteria for the role are met and a shortlist will 

be  prepared. 

(f) An appointment process will follow as outlined below.  

 (ii) If it is not proposed that  the appointment be made exclusively from among 

their existing officers, the Council will: 

(e) draw up a statement specifying: 

(i) the duties of the officer concerned; and 

(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed. 

(f) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is 

likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for 

it; and 

(g) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in 

paragraph(a) above to be sent to any person on request. 

(h) follow an appropriate recruitment process as outlined below.  

 

4.8.11. Appointment of Head of Paid 
Service 

(c) The full Council must confirm the appointment of the Head of Paid Service  following the 

recommendation of such an appointment by a sub-group of the Employment Panel with the Leader 

of the Council as a full member of the Appointment Panel.   

(d) An offer of an appointment as Head of Paid Service must not be made by the  Council until: 

(i) The Council has notified the Director of People and Inclusion of the name of  the person 

to whom the Council wishes to make the offer and of any other              particulars which the Council 

considers are relevant to the appointment; 

(ii) The Director of People and Inclusion has notified (for information) every 

member of Cabinet of: 

(a) the name of the person to whom the Council wishes to make the offer; 

(b) any other particulars relevant to the appointment which the Council has 

notified to the Director of People and Inclusion;  

(iii)  and the Director of People and Inclusion seeks agreement on the appointment 

from a meeting of Full Council. 

 

4.8.12. Appointment of Chief Officers and Deputy 

Chief Officers 

Page 27



(c) A sub-group of the Employment Panel of the Council will appoint Chief Officers and Deputy 

Chief Officers, with the relevant Member(s)   of the Cabinet as full member(s) of the Appointment 

Panel for these purposes. 

(d) The Chief Officer and Deputy Chief Officers posts subject to Rule 4 of the  Officer 

Employment Rules are as defined in Section 2 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 

4.8.13. Other Appointments 

(c) Officers below Deputy Chief Officer 

The appointment of officers below Deputy Chief Officer (other than assistants to  

political groups) is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his/her 

nominee, and may not be made by Councillors. 

 

(d) Assistants to political groups 

The appointment of an assistant to a political group shall be made in accordance 

with the wishes of that political group. 

Page 28



4.8.14. Disciplinary Action - Head of Paid 

Service, 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 

(To be considered in conjunction with the Disciplinary Procedure for Head of Paid 

Service, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer - Appendix A) 

(5) The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and S151-Chief Finance Officer may be 

suspended whilst an investigation takes place into alleged misconduct.  That suspension will be on 

full pay and will be reviewed after two months. 

(6) The Council must approve the dismissal or other disciplinary action in relation to the Head of 

Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or the S151-Chief Finance Officer following the 

recommendation of dismissal or disciplinary action by the Employment Panel (the Investigating 

and Disciplinary Committee - IDC) and an Independent Panel. 

(d) The IDC will set up an initial meeting to inform the officer of the  allegation, hear 

any representations and evidence from the officer and determine whether or not there 

is a case to answer. If it is determined that there is a case to answer an independent 

investigator will be appointed. 

(e) Following receipt of the investigation report the IDC will conduct a Hearing to consider 

the findings/ recommendations, hear the officer's case and question any witnesses. 

(f) If a disciplinary sanction/dismissal is proposed the Panel will notify the Director of 

People and Inclusion who will, through Democratic Services, notify every Member of the  

Cabinet of the name of the person and relevant details of the sanction or dismissal and give 

the opportunity for them to object/period of time to do this. 

(g) Objections should be made through the Leader on behalf of the  Cabinet to the 

Director of People and Inclusion; and either:- 

(i) the Leader has, within the period specified in the notice under Rule 6(d)(ii)(c), 

notified the Panel that neither he/she nor any other Member of the Cabinet has any 

objection to the making of the offer; 

(ii) the Director of People and Inclusion has notified the Panel that no objection 

was received within that period from the Leader; or 

(iii) the Panel is satisfied that any objection received from the 

Leader/Cabinet within that period is not material or is not well founded. 

(h) The IDC's proposed decision will then be put to an Independent Panel: 

Page 29



(7) The Independent Panel will be established comprising of two or more independent 

panel members: 

 an independent person appointed by the Council who is a local  government 

elector 

 any other independent person appointed by the Council 

 an independent person who has been appointed by another Council 

 The Panel will: 

 hear the evidence of the investigator 

 hear oral representation from the officer 

 hear evidence from any witnesses 

 hear the response/proposals from the IDC 

The Panel will consider all of the evidence and review the proposed decision from 

the IDC. A report will be prepared by the Independent Panel for Council with a 

clear recommendation as to whether or not they feel the officer should receive a 

disciplinary sanction or be dismissed. If they disagree with the IDC's proposals 

to issue a disciplinary sanction or dismiss, the report should include a clear 

rationale of the reasons why. 

If the Panel are in agreement with the IDC's proposals the officer should be 

informed of this in writing and given the right of appeal. 

(8) Under the 2015 regulations any decision to issue a disciplinary sanction or dismiss will be taken 

by full Council, who will take into account any advice, views or recommendations of the Independent 

Panel. 

A special meeting of Council will be set up by Democratic Services and will take 

place at least 20 working days after the meeting of the Independent Panel. 

At the meeting, which will also act as the officer's appeal if they have appealed, 

the case will be reviewed (a full re-hearing will not take place). 

In addition: 

 the officer will make representation first as this will effectively be their opportunity to 

appeal 

 the advice, views and recommendations of the Independent Panel will be  taken into 

consideration 

 the conclusions from the investigation will be considered Council may 

decide: 

 to remove the disciplinary sanction or determine a lesser sanction 

 to overturn the dismissal and award a lesser sanction (formal warning or action short of 

dismissal) 

 to confirm the disciplinary sanction or dismissal of the officer Decisions 

must be approved by way of a vote. 

Page 30



4.8.15. Disciplinary Action - Chief Officers and 

Deputy Chief Officers (other than the Head of Paid 

Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer) 

(c) The Employment Panel shall approve the dismissal of or  other disciplinary action in relation 

to Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (other than the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 

Officer or the Chief Finance Officer). 

(d) Notice of the dismissal of the Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer (other than the Head of 

Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer) must not be given by the Director 

of People and Inclusion until: 

(i) the Panel has notified the Director of People and Inclusion of the person who the Panel 

wishes to dismiss and other particulars which the Panel  considers are relevant to the 

dismissal; 

(ii) the Director of People and Inclusion has notified every Member of the  Cabinet 

of; 

(a) the name of the person who the Panel wishes to dismiss; 

(b) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the Panel has notified to 

the Director of People and Inclusion; and 

(iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to be  made by the Leader on 

behalf of the Cabinet to the Director of People and Inclusion and; Either: 

(iv) the Leader has, within the period specified in the notice  under Rule 7(b)(ii)(c), 

notified the Panel that neither he/she nor any other Member of the Cabinet has any 

objection to the dismissal; 

(v) the Director of People and Inclusion has notified the Panel that no objection 

was received by him within that period from the Leader; or 

(vi) the Panel is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader/Cabinet 

within that period is not material or is not well founded. 

 

4.8.16. Disciplinary Action - Other Officers 

Other than hearing Appeals against dismissal, Councillors shall not be involved 

in the dismissal of or disciplinary action in relation to any Officer below Deputy 

Chief Officer except where such involvement is necessary for any investigation 

or enquiry into alleged misconduct and also through the Council's Disciplinary, 

Capability and Related Procedures as adopted from time to time, which may 

allow a right of appeal to Members in respect of such action. 

Page 31



 

 

 

Appendix A 

Disciplinary Procedure for Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and 

Monitoring Officer 

 

Background 

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as 

amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015) provide a degree of protection for chief executives and certain 

statutory chief officers (section 151 and monitoring officers) against 

unwarranted political interference in their roles as Head of Paid Service, Section 

151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

These changes have been incorporated into the Council Constitution and new 

procedures are required to be formalised. 

 

Scope 

This procedure sits alongside the Model Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance as 

outlined in the Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Chief Executives National 

Salary Framework and Conditions of Service Handbook (updated 13 October 

2016) and will be used to manage the disciplinary process for the Head of Paid 

Service, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

Should any cases involving allegations against any of these three officers also  

implicate other officers and there is one investigation, this higher level procedure 

will be used for all officers under investigation. 

Where the procedure refers to a Hearing, the process will follow the Council's 

Hearing Procedure. 

Democratic Services, in conjunction with HR, will be responsible for arranging all 

meetings / hearings. 

 

Right to be accompanied 

The JNC procedure provides that at all stages, officers have the right to be 

accompanied by a trade union representative or some other person of their 

choice at their own cost. The only exception being, if an emergency suspension 

needs to take place where there is a serious risk identified. 

The disciplinary procedure cannot be delayed, however, due to the unavailability 

of representative although every effort will be made to arrange dates that are 

mutually convenient. 

The statutory right to be accompanied applies in disciplinary hearings where 

decisions around disciplinary action, a disciplinary sanction or an appeal are 

Page 32



taken. In these cases should the officer's representative be unavailable to attend 

we will postpone the Hearing for up to a week when the Hearing will go ahead 

regardless of the representative's availability. 

 

Informal Resolution 

If possible, an informal resolution should be sought and the Council will pay full 

regard to the principles within the ACAS handbook. The advice of the Joint 

Secretaries may also be sought. Formal action should be a last resort. 

 

Formal Procedure 

Suspension 

The decision to suspend the Chief Executive, S151 Officer or Monitoring Officer 

must be considered carefully taking into account the nature of the allegations, 

the effect on the officer and potential reputational damage to the Council. 

The Deputy Chief Executive has delegated authority to suspend in relevant 

circumstances in conjunction with the Leader of the Council and relevant Cabinet 

Member. Suspension should be reviewed by the IDC after 2 months. 

 

Investigating and Disciplinary Committee - initial meeting 

As part of the procedure, an Investigating and Disciplinary Committee (IDC) is 

required to be set up. This committee will be politically balanced and will consist 

of a panel of five members, including at least one cabinet member. Members 

appointed to the panel should have no prior knowledge or conflicts of interest in 

the case/officer involved. 

Prior to the initial meeting, the Council should shortlist three people (or less if 

three are not available) from a list of independent investigators held by the Joint 

Secretaries to conduct an investigation should the IDC decide that this is the 

appropriate way forward. 

The IDC's initial role will be to inform the officer of the allegations in writing, 

providing any evidence that might require investigation. The officer will be 

invited to put forward any written representations and evidence to the meeting 

(this includes any written evidence from witnesses they wish to be considered at 

this stage). The officer will also be invited to attend the meeting to make oral 

representations. If they do not attend their written representations will be taken 

into account. 

At the meeting, the IDC will consider any evidence presented by the officer, 

either in writing or in person, and determine if it is appropriate to call the 

witnesses at this stage before any decision is taken. The IDC may decide: 

 no further formal action is taken, or 

 there is a case to answer and an investigation is required, or 

Page 33



 to consider other actions (for example mediation, use of a different procedure, 

mutual termination etc.) 

If the IDC decides that there is a case to answer they will appoint an 

independent investigator. 

They will also consider if it is appropriate to suspend the officer. If the officer has 

already been suspended under emergency powers, the IDC will review the 

decision to determine whether or not the suspension stands. Suspension will be 

further reviewed by the IDC after 2 months. 

The officer will be informed of the decision in writing. 

 

Investigation 

The Joint Secretaries hold a list of independent investigators. Once the options 

of independent investigators from the list are determined suitable by the 

Council, the officer will be invited to select an investigator from the list (if no  

selection is made within 14 days of the names being supplied the Council should 

select an investigator from the list). 

The role of the investigator will be to establish the facts and collate evidence. 

The investigation should remain confidential, impartial, and should be speedy 

and thorough. 

The investigator will prepare a report to the IDC outlining: 

 the facts of the case 

 findings and evidence 

 their opinion as to whether or not they believe that the evidence gathered supports the 

allegation and the need for disciplinary action to be taken 

 their recommendations as to what disciplinary action they believe to be appropriate 

 

IDC - Hearing 

On receipt of the investigation report, the IDC will conduct a Hearing which will: 

 consider the findings, report and recommendations of the independent investigator 

including any new material evidence material to the allegations 

 give the officer the opportunity to state their case 

 question any witnesses where relevant The IDC 

may decide on the following outcomes: 

6. No further action should be taken - the officer should be informed and appropriate 

communication prepared to ensure no damage to the officer's reputation 

7. The issue should be resolved informally or through another procedure 

Page 34



8. The case should be referred back to the investigator for further investigation - this should 

be only when it is absolutely necessary in order to made a decision (for example to 

investigate any new evidence) 

9. To take action short of dismissal (ie to issue a disciplinary sanction) - the officer should be 

notified of this and given the right of appeal 

10.To recommend to Council to dismiss the officer 

Where the IDC proposes to recommend to dismiss the officer, the Leader and all 

members of the Cabinet should be informed and given the opportunity to object. 

This part of the process should be carried out by the Deputy Chief Executive in 

conjunction with Democratic Services and any objections from the Cabinet 

should be made through the Leader. 

The IDC will then reconvene to consider any objections and reaffirm their 

proposed recommendations to dismiss. 

The IDC's proposed recommendations to dismiss should then be put to an 

Independent Panel. 

The IDC will reconvene once the report from the independent panel is received 

to consider the recommendation to dismiss. If the recommendations to dismiss 

do not change, the officer will be informed of the decision at this point and given 

the right to appeal. This will be to full Council. 

Should the IDC decide not to dismiss, other options should be considered (see 

above IDC outcomes). 

 

Independent Panel 

If a recommendation to dismiss is made by the IDC an Independent Panel (IP) 

will be established comprising of three independent panel members (or at least 

2) who are: 

 an independent person appointed by the Council who is a local  government 

elector in this borough 

 an independent person appointed by the Council for the purpose of the Council 

members conduct regime under the Localism Act 2011 

 an independent person appointed by another Council for the purpose of  the Council 

members conduct regime under the Localism Act 2011 

The IP will be held in accordance with the Council's Hearing Procedure and will 

take place at least 20 working days before the meeting of the Council. The IP 

will offer advice, views or recommendations to the Council at which the 

recommendation for dismissal will be considered. It will: 

 receive the IDC recommendations and reasons - presented by the Chair of the IDC 

 receive the report from the independent investigator, who will be invited to the IP to 

provide clarification if required 

Page 35



 receive oral/written representations from the officer, who will be invited to attend 

 hear evidence from any witnesses 

 ask questions of either party 

The IP will consider all of the evidence and formulate any advice, views or 

recommendations it wishes to make to Council on the proposal to dismiss the 

officer. A report will be prepared for the IDC / Council. If they disagree with the 

IDC's proposals to dismiss, the report should include a clear rationale of the 

reasons why. 

 

Council 

Where there is a proposal to dismiss the Head of Paid Service, S151 Officer or 

Monitoring Officer, Council must approve the dismissal before notice of dismissal 

is issued. 

A special meeting of Council will be set up by Democratic Services and will take 

place at least 20 working days after the meeting of the Independent Panel. 

Given the thoroughness and independence of the previous stages it will not be 

appropriate for Council to undertake a full re-hearing of the case and the 

meeting will review the case, the proposal to dismiss and any other 

evidence/representations. This stage will also act as the officer's appeal against 

the proposal to dismiss. In addition: 

 the officer will attend and make representation first as this will effectively  be their 

opportunity to appeal 

 the Chair of the IDC will attend and present the proposal to 

dismiss/reasons 

 the advice, views and recommendations of the Independent Panel will be  taken into 

consideration 

 the conclusions from the investigation will be considered Council will 

have three options: 

 to confirm the dismissal of the officer - this should be communicated to the officer as 

soon as possible 

 to reject the proposal to dismiss the officer, ie no sanction - this should be communicated to 

the officer and communications prepared to ensure as far as possible there is no damage to 

their reputation 

 Impose a lesser sanction or refer back to the IDC to determine the lesser sanction 

 

Appeals Committee 

Appeal Hearings against disciplinary action (action short of dismissal) will be 

heard by an Appeals Committee which will be politically balanced, include at 

Page 36



least one cabinet member and will comprise of five elected members who were 

not members of the IDC. 

Its purpose is to hear the officer's representation and review the case/decision 

taken by the IDC, IP and consider the investigation report along with any other 

evidence relating to the case. They will also conduct any further investigations 

necessary to enable them to reach a decision. 

The Panel may decide: 

 to confirm the sanction given 

 no sanction should be given - communications should be agreed with the officer to ensure 

as far as possible no damage to their reputation) 

 a lesser sanction should be given 

The decision of the Appeals Committee is final. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



Appendix 3  

 EMPLOYMENT PANEL 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

 

1. FUNCTION 

 

The Employment Panel is responsible for the employment functions as set out in the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules; including; 

 acting as the Investigating and Disciplinary Committee for statutory officers 
of the Council  

 Appeals against dismissal and grievances by employees of the Council  
 applications for premature retirement and  
 Appointment Panel for Chief and Deputy Chief Officers. 

 

 

2. MEMBERSHIP 

 

2.1 The Employment Panel will be Chaired by the Cabinet Member with responsibility 

for human resources.  The Committee will be a politically balanced committee of the 

Council with nine members.  

2.2 A politically balanced 3 member panel will be convened to fulfil the appeals 

functions. 

2.3 A politically balanced 6 member panel will be convened to fulfil the employment 

functions, the 5th/and if necessary 6th member will be the Cabinet Member(s) with 

responsibility for the portfolio area under consideration.  

2.4 Any panels convened must comprise of the 9 members appointed to the 

Employment Panel except in instances when a Cabinet Member is required to fulfil an 

employment function as detailed in point 2.3. 

 

3. KEY RESPONSIBILITES OF THE BOARD 

 

1. Be the appropriate body including acting as the Investigating and 
Disciplinary Committee. 

2. To fulfil the employment functions as set out in part 4 section 8, the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules in relation to: Chief Officers and 
Deputy Chief Officers including the Head of Paid Service (to include 
Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer functions), Deputy 
Chief Executive; Director for Adults and Communities, Director of 

Page 38



Children and Families; Director of Public Health, Monitoring Officer and 
S151 Officer.  

3. Review the annual pay policy statement and make recommendations to 
Council. 

4. Be a consultee on all terms and conditions including policies for all staff. 

5. Approve the performance and development framework for annual 
assessment of the Chief Executive. 

6. Appeals against dismissal and grievances by employees of the council 
and applications for premature retirement. 

7. The Chair of the Employment Panel has delegated authority to suspend 
the Head of Paid Service. 

 

 5. MEETINGS 

 

The Employment Panel is a Committee of the Local Authority and so as such the 
Access to Information provisions will apply.  The Panel will meet four times a year. 

 

The date and timings of the meetings will be fixed in advance by the Council, as 
part of the agreed schedule of meetings. 

 

Additional meetings may be convened at the request of the Chair, and with the 
agreement of the Council Leader. 

 

The meeting will be Chaired by the Cabinet Member with responsibility for the human 

resources function. The Chair will be appointed annually and the appointment would 

be ratified by Council.  In the absence of the Chair - a replacement Chair will be 

elected for the duration of the meeting. 

 

A quorum of three will apply for meetings. 

 

The Director of People & Inclusion or their representative will act as the lead officer.   

 

The agenda and supporting papers shall be in a standard format and circulated at 
least five clear working days in advance of meetings.   

 

Meetings will be clerked by a representative of Democratic Services. 

 

Public Engagement  

Page 39



 

Agendas will be available to view by members of the public in line with Access to 

Information Requirements on the Councils website at 

https://www.bury.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=10465 

 

 

 

Page 40

https://www.bury.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=10465


1 
 

 

  
 
 

Body:  Employment Panel 

Date:  5th April 2022   

Title of report:  Place Based Lead for health and Social Care Integration  

Report by:  
 

Leader of the Council and Chair of the CCG.  

Decision Type: Non Key Decision  

Ward(s) to which 
report relates 

All  

 

Executive Summary:   

As part of the implementation of the new arrangements for health and social care in 

Greater Manchester each locality is required to nominate a Place Based Lead and, 

where the proposal is that this role is undertaken by someone already in a 

substantive position, an additional named Executive Lead in the Place to support the 
Place Based Lead is also required to be nominated.  

In Bury, based on the existing integrated working across the Council and CCG and 

strong locality arrangements the Locality Board has already supported the 

nomination of the current Council Chief Executive and CCG Accountable Officer for 

the Place Based Lead role. In support of this, the intention is to nominate the current 

Council and CCG Executive Director of Strategic Commissioning as the named 
Executive lead.  

The intention is that these duties are absorbed within the post holders existing roles 

and no change in grade or additional remuneration is proposed. The Council will 

receive funds to support the cost of the Chief Executive and Executive Director as 

part of the locality leadership budget delegated from the ICS.  

Recommendation(s)  

The Employment Panel is asked to: 

1. Endorse the recommendation of the Locality Board that the GM ICS interim 

Chief Executive should be asked to agree that, in Bury, the role of Place Based 

Lead should be combined with the Council’s Chief Executive role and that the 

current CCG Accountable Officer and Council Chief Executive should fill that 

role.  

 

2. Endorse the recommendation of the Locality Board that the current Executive 

Director of Strategic Commissioning for the Council and CCG (and Deputy 

Classification 
 
Open     

Item No. 

Page 41 Agenda Item 4



2 
 

Accountable Officer of the CCG) to become the named Executive lead in 
support of the place based lead. 

Key considerations  

1. Proposed Place Based Leadership Arrangements for health and Social 

Care in Bury  

 

1.1 The emergent Greater Manchester Integrated Care System (GM ICS) 

arrangements (subject to legislation) provide for a role of Place Based Lead for 

the health and care system in each of the 10 Districts of Greater Manchester.  

Broadly the role of the Place Based Lead is intended to have dual 

accountability to the GM Integrated Care Board and to the local Council, and to 

orchestrate the work of the Locality Board and its associated sub structure to 

support the realisation of the Locality Plan for health and care for each district. 

 

1.2 A consultation process across Greater Manchester was undertaken to clarify 

both the nature of the role and the expectations from the emergent ICB on the 

nature of the arrangements.  Members of the Locality Board in Bury received 

this on 7th February and the document was referenced in the Locality Board 

Meeting on the same day. 

 

1.3 The Locality Board has on two occasions, in November 2021 and in January 

2022, in the context of the development and consideration of the operating 

model for health and care in Bury, confirmed its expectation that the role of 

Place Based Lead would be vested in the role of the current joint CCG 

Accountable Officer and Chief Executive of the Council. In the absence of any 

other comments received following consideration at the Locality Board meeting 

in February 2022 this position was confirmed as the Bury response to the 

Consultation. 

 

1.4 Following the GM wide consultation, a finalised version of the role description 

has been circulated, and this is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

1.5 As set out in the appendix an additional nomination from localities is expected 

where the role of Place Based Lead is undertaken by someone already in a 

substantive role. The paper requires an identification of a named Executive 

Lead in the Place to support the Place Based Lead. In Bury, the proposal is 

that this role should be the current Executive Director of Strategic 

Commissioning Bury Council and Bury CCG. The locality board will receive 

further proposals in due course to clarify the purpose of that role within the 

new ICS arrangement and for the structure below that post and its relationship 

to other senior roles across the Bury partnership / system.  

 

1.6 On 4 April the Bury Locality Board will be asked to endorse these proposed 

nominations. As both the Chief Executive and the Executive Director of 

Strategic Commissioning are employees of Bury Council this paper provides 

the Employment Panel with an overview of this proposal and the implications 

on Council posts and post holders for further endorsement.  

 

Page 42



3 
 

1.7 Whilst both post holders are employees of the Council, both individuals also 

have separate contracts of employment with the CCG for which no additional 

remuneration is paid. The Council currently receives a financial contribution 

from the CCG towards these roles. The expectation is that these individuals’ 

CCG contracts will transfer to the ICS from July which will retain the leads’ 

contractual relationship with the ICS. Funding will also be available to the 

locality to support its place-based leadership structure as set out in the 

financial implications section below. Both current roles are evaluated in 

accordance with the Council’s pay and grading arrangements and the duties as 

set out within the appended accountability framework are not expected to 

affect this. There will therefore be no change to individuals’ grades or levels of 
remuneration.      

________________________________________________________________ 

Community impact/links with Community Strategy 

The implementation of the new integrated arrangements for health and social care 

are a key enabler to delivering on Bury’s Let’s Do It ambition.  

____________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and considerations: 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is 
set out as follows:  

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 

to -  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can 
positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and 

demonstrate that we are paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of 
policies and in the delivery of services.  

Equality Analysis 

No equality impacts have been identified. The person specification for the Place 
Based Lead role includes a ‘rack record of promoting Equality Diversity and 

Inclusion in leadership roles at board level and across systems’.  

 

*Please note: Approval of a cabinet report is paused when the ‘Equality/Diversity 

implications’ section is left blank and approval will only be considered when this 

section is completed. 

Page 43



4 
 

_________________________________________________________ 
Assessment of Risk:  

The following risks apply to the decision:  

  

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

  

  

__________________________________________________________ 
Consultation: 

The proposed approach has been considered by the Bury Locality Board.    

__________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

Members are asked to endorse the recommendation of the Locality Board. This 

report confirms that these responsibilities will not lead to a change in role or 

remuneration. The legal arrangements for the transfer of the CCG contract are not 
currently in place however work is on going as the new ICS is established. 

 

__________________________________________________________ 

Financial Implications: 

Localities will be allocated a place based leadership budget which is a reduced 

element of the current Clinical Commissioning Groups Executive and Board budget 

from which it is expected to be able to fund its senior leadership required to 

support the health and care agenda.  The final allocation is yet to be fully 

determined but it will include a £150k contribution to the localities place based 

lead, a capitation based budget and a fixed budget.  This is to reflect that 

irrespective of the size of the district there are some statutory elements that are 

required within each leadership team but also population size does have an 
influence to aspects. 

This budget is more than sufficient to cover the proposals included within this 

report but further work is required to determine the further leadership 

requirements which are required in locality for the new infrastructure which will 
need to be funded from this budget. 

__________________________________________________________ 

Report Author and Contact Details: 
 

Sam McVaigh 

Director of People & Inclusion 

Email: s.mcvaigh@bury.gov.uk  

   

Page 44

mailto:s.mcvaigh@bury.gov.uk


5 
 

__________________________________________________________ 

Background papers: 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this 
report.  

  

Term  Meaning  

ICS Integrated Care System  

  

 

 

  

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

GREATER MANCHESTER - PLACE LEAD FOR HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION 

ACCOUNTABILITY FRAMEWORK 

Overview 

The role of a single responsible Place Lead for Integrated Care has been recognised as a core feature of the 
locality approach intended as part of GM’s development as an integrated care system. That intention has also 

been reflected in NHSE’s Thriving Places guidance and affirmed in the recent Integration White Paper. 

Place-based integrated care partnerships across Greater Manchester will help complete our journey to 
integrated care. They will be accountable to, and rooted in, communities. Place based partnerships will ensure 
that day to day care and support is connected to the things which keep people well – their homes, their 
families, their friendships and social activities and their jobs. This ambition, to connect the contribution of all 
public services with communities in pursuit of good lives for all, is the focus of the place leadership model. 

It is critically important to define that within each locality the Council will remain the leader of place. 

The place-based integrated care partnerships for each locality will address specific place-based challenges and 

deliver within each place/LA footprint its locality plan as a component part of the GM Integrated Care 

Partnership strategy.  Each of the place-based partnerships will reflect the identity of each of the places within 

Greater Manchester and benefit from the assets and strengths of each community in the locality. At the same 

time, however, we will ensure that standards of access and quality do not vary. We will connect across Greater 

Manchester, therefore, to ensure that the evidence of the most effective care models is applied in every 

neighbourhood.   

Local authorities and the NHS, as part of our integrated care system, have a statutory duty to deliver on this 

agenda through GM Integrated Care Partnership and GM NHS Integrated Care. Integrating health and social 

care can make a significant contribution to this agenda but most of what needs to be done cannot be delivered 

by integrated care alone. Much, but not all, of this is delivered at place as a part of the place-based agenda, 

addressing the social determinants of health, and it is Local Councils who are the principal leaders of place. 

As a system, we have reviewed the governance arrangements that will be required to successfully work at 

system and at place within Greater Manchester and have chosen to adopt the following ways of working from 

July 2022: 

• A new post will be developed, as per the requirements of the white paper, this will be known as a  Place 

Lead for Health and Care Integration – convening and coordinating the locality, bringing the parties 

together, driving the changes to improve health, tackle health inequalities and improving everybody’s 

access to, experience of, and outcomes from care; The options for the nomination and/or recruitment and 

appointment of this individual are contained within the appendix   

• A Place-Based Integrated Care Partnership Committee (Locality Board) will be established – connecting the 

partners and their contributions through the joint stewardship of public resources with common purpose 

to improve health and wellbeing.  This placed based lead for Health and Care integration will support this 

board and the local system governance. 

• The arrangements for each locality will need to demonstrate wide support from partners and stakeholders 

and be the subject of a formal agreement between the ICB and the relevant Council. These will be 

established across each of the ten place-based localities from 1st July 2022 and for the duration of 

2022/23, the transition year.  A review will take place to redefine the framework should it be required. 

 

  

Page 47



 

Page 2 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

Place Lead for Health and Care Integration 

The Place Lead for Health and Care Integration will be responsible  for driving the local integration of health 

and social care and connecting that to wider public services to address the social determinants of health,  with 

purpose of improving health outcomes, improving the quality of care, reducing health inequalities and 

maximising the value of public resources. 

The Place-Based Integrated Care Lead will be accountable for: 

• Convening the place-based integrated care partnership, and facilitate priority-setting, strategic 
alignment and decision-making between organisations across multiple sectors.  

• Being the accountable officer for delegations from GM NHS Integrated Care to the place-based 
partnership. 

• The place-based lead will be a member of the wider system leadership team, and therefore have 
influence over NHS financial resource allocation across Greater Manchester and specifically within the 
place they lead.      

• Leading the local GM NHS IC employed team, and work with partner organisations to develop and 
support a “one team” approach including purposeful arrangements for effective clinical and 
professional care leadership across the place. 

• Listening to the voice of our communities - Ensuring our place-based partnerships are developed by 
listening to the voice and lived experience of our communities 
 

• Being responsible for the management and deployment of people who are allocated from both GM 
NHS Integrated care and wider partners to form the place based integrated care team. 

 

• Ensuring that partners work together to deliver on required outcomes and agreed ambitions. 
 

• The role will work closely with the statutory officers in NHS Trusts, Adults and Children's Social Care 
and Public Health to support the full range of contributions to integrated care and population health. 
The statutory accountabilities of those individuals and their organisations are not affected by the 
creation of this role. 

 
  

Page 48



 

Page 3 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

Accountability Profile 

Role: Place Lead for Health and Care Integration  

Accountable to: GM Integrated Care -  Chief Executive 

Place Locality Board (via Local Authority) 

Contractual 
arrangements: 

All post holders should have a contractual relationship and dual accountability with NHS 
GM Integrated Care and with the Local Authority as the Place Leader; on behalf of the 
Locality Board.  This could be achieved in multiple ways: 
 
1. Fully employed by the local authority  
2. Fully employed by NHS GM Integrated Care Board 
 
NB: Locality proposals for alternative arrangements will be considered. 
 

 

Priorities 

 
• Improve outcomes in population health and healthcare  
• Tackle inequalities in outcomes, experience and access 
• Enhance productivity and value for money  
• Help the NHS support broader social and economic development. 
 
Job Requirements: 
 
To be responsible for the leadership, strategy, effectiveness and delivery of the functions of the integrated 

care partnerships including:  

• To ensure the delivery of high-quality services and positive outcomes for children and adults living in the 

locality  

• Ensure commissioning approaches and resources are combined to drive integrated models of care and 
support. This will include the establishment and oversight of pooled/aligned budgets and s75s/BCF  

• To continue to develop and lead collaborative working partnerships with a wide range of external bodies 

(ie: regulators)  and partners (ie: GMP).  

• To be a member of the local place Leadership Team of the place anchor organisation(s) and to contribute 

to shaping and influencing the strategic objectives of the Locality.  

• To be a part of the GM Integrated Care wider leadership team  

• Where appropriate to participate in the LA council cabinet, council and committee meetings and support 

elected members especially relevant portfolio holders  

• Be the lead executive for discharging the NHS functions for health in Locality & to fulfil other GM Integrated 

Care functions delegated to ‘place’. 

• Working with locality partners to lead the elective and COVID recovery programmes. 

• Lead the development of the locality integrated health and care workforce strategy to meet the aims of 

the GM People & Culture Strategy, national workforce strategies and meeting the needs of the local 

workforce priorities. 

• Provide leadership to ensure that the conditions for exceptional care are in place. In particular, including 

effective approaches for data, intelligence and digital maturity and effective use of high quality public 

estate.  

Page 49



 

Page 4 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

• Contribute to the overall integrated performance of GM Integrated Care including delivery of NHS 

priorities and integrated KPI’s. 

• Ensure the quality and safety of health and  care services working with relevant providers and partners. 

 

Responsibilities at place: 

• Planning and delivering integrated services - Ensure that the integrated care partnership is delivering high 
quality, safe, affordable integrated services, tailored across the differing needs within the place footprint 
at neighbourhood, district and place.  

• Ensuring that GM Integrated Care exercises its functions efficiently and economically in the locality 

• Comply with NHS Financial and governance duties and meet any statutory obligations  

• Secure continuous improvements in the quality of services.  

• In conjunction with GM Integrated Care executive Director of finance , provide good value for money and    

contribute to a stable health economy  

• Comprehensively and effectively lead health functions and teams in the locality , ensuring it is constantly 

committed to and able to discharge its functions.  

• Be the executive lead for health and care integration and effectively communicate and engage with all 

stakeholders.  

• Report to GM Integrated Care and GM Integrated Care Partnership as required and ensure the Locality  

makes a positive contribution to Greater Manchester   

• Forge strong relationships with the Clinical Lead, local GPs and Primary Care Networks and ensure the 

membership is fully engaged with ‘place’.  

• Forge strong relationships with local health and social care providers  

• Ensure there is strong clinical leadership in place and that they are fully engaged with the ‘place’ and 

locality board. 

• Play an active role in GM Integrated Care Partnership. 

• Establish an innovative, person-centred culture within the place-based team and be a visible and inspiring 

leader to all staff  

• Improving quality of service - Build upon the existing high-quality services to provide consistent, high-
quality care across each place, ensuring place-based performance and assurance is focused on delivering 
the required improvements in population health, outcomes and inequalities.  

• Examples of thematic areas which place based leads will have responsibility for can be found in appendix 
1 - these may differ based on how the wider place leadership is determined and will be agreed in 
system/locality boards in partnership. 

• Accountability for the safety and quality of CQC regulated services for NHS GM Integrated Care services in 
the locality. 
 

Leadership and Management  

• To participate in the planning and strategic management of the full range of services agreed in scope. 

• To create, foster and manage effective relationships with Elected Members, board members within all 

statutory organisations within the locality and ICS. 

• Work collaboratively with other senior managers and stakeholders across the Locality in order to generate 

efficiencies and create synergies wherever possible.  

• Direct and lead the integration of services ensuring attention to improving efficiency, robust cost 

management and accountability 

Page 50



 

Page 5 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

• Advise  GM Integrated Care, Cabinet, Portfolio Holders, Scrutiny Committees and other relevant 

stakeholders/ committees /Boards on the strategic priorities for health and social care services, and report 

on service performance and customer/client experience. 

• Help develop an organisational culture and operational environment based on high standards of service 

provision, value for money and policy requirements, where employees are valued and developed.  

• Be a recognised leader in health & care integration locally, regionally & nationally.  

• Ensure effective performance management arrangements by defining requirements, standards, success 

measures and milestones; communicate these expectations clearly, including the step changes required 

to ensure continuous transformation and improvements to services.  

• Represent the Locality as an exemplar, helping to develop a positive profile within the community, 

regionally and nationally.  

Financial Management 

• Maximising the use of resources - management of the financial delegations from GM Integrated Care 
Board, and achievement of the required deliverables for place (determined by the Integrated Care Board 
and by local priorities / ambitions).  Ensuring this and any pooled budgets with other partners are managed 
effectively and make best use of limited resources.  

• In conjunction with the locality board work with the LA S151 Officer and GM Integrated Care Executive 

Director of Finance, be responsible for, and proactively manage, the council, pooled and health service 

budgets ensuring that funding is maximised and resources are effectively deployed, monitored and 

controlled to provide optimal levels and quality of services within the resources available.   

Partnerships & Integration  

• To lead, promote and develop opportunities for co-operation with local, regional and national partners.  

• To lead the ongoing integration of services, to ensure the development and implementation of a strategic 

plan for the public which is responsive to community needs.  

• To develop a strong working relationship with all relevant partners and stakeholders.  

• Through membership of the appropriate  Board, assist in driving the development of the local Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment and joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

• To direct the design and development of a combined commissioning function bringing together acute, 

primary, community care, adult social care, children and young people and public health and wellbeing; 

which ensures appropriate integration in commissioning of services and leverages greater efficiencies and 

value for money. 

• To ensure the local voluntary faith and community sector, charities, social enterprises and independent 

sector are actively involved in the planning commissioning and delivery of services where appropriate.  

• To lead and promote the involvement of the public and communities in co-designing services to meet the 

needs of the locality and its residents.  

  

Page 51



 

Page 6 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

Person Specification 
 
In order to be considered for this role, you should have the following attributes: 
 
Knowledge 
 

● Extensive knowledge of the NHS care and local government landscape 
● Extensive knowledge of the health and care landscape within the place 
● An understanding of different sectors, groups, networks and the needs of diverse populations 
● An awareness and appreciation of social justice and how it might apply within an ICS 
● A deep understanding of the NHS triple aim (of improved population health, quality of care and cost-

control) and commitment to the values of the NHS Long Term Plan, the NHS People Plan, Nolan 
principles and the Standards for members of NHS Boards and Governing Bodies in England 

● Sound understanding of good corporate governance as well as the difference between governance 
and management 
 

Experience 
 

● Extensive experience of providing compassionate and inclusive executive leadership in a role such as 
a Chief Executive, Executive Director/Director, Accountable Officer, Chief Operating Officer in a 
complex public sector organisation such as an NHS provider, Local Authority or CCG or have suitable 
leadership experience independent of the system  

● Comprehensive experience of chairing complex professional meetings at a very senior level in a 
collaborative, efficient and effective manner 

● Considerable experience of navigating politically sensitive situations and environments 
● Significant experience of working with different sectors, groups, networks and building teams to 

deliver major transformation of public services and enhance services 
● Broad experience of working across agency and professional boundaries, collaboratively with the 

board and other stakeholders to commission services and consult on transformation initiatives 
● Experience of providing governance of a board, to identify and address issues, including 

underperformance and balance the competing objectives of quality, operational performance, and 
finance  

● Track record of promoting Equality Diversity and Inclusion in leadership roles at board level and across 
systems 

● Successful leadership and delivery of large-scale transformational change across organisations or 
sectors  

● Experience of improving services to result in better outcomes for residents and patients  
● Experience of managing a public sector budget for a place 
● Extensive experience in building strong and effective relationships across sectors and organisations, 

and in taking time to foster good working relationships to build successful partnerships  
 
Skills 
 

● The ability to lead and build strong relationships across different sectors, and to adapt to changing 
situations 

● Exceptional communication skills and be comfortable presenting in a variety of contexts, with 
experience of dealing with the media on topics of healthcare or other public sector activities 

● Ability to remain independent and neutral to provide independent and unbiased leadership of the 
board with a high degree of personal integrity 

Page 52



 

Page 7 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

● Highly developed interpersonal and influencing skills, with the ability to lead in a creative environment 
which enables people to thrive and collaborate 

● Problem solving skills and the ability to identify issues and areas of risk, leading stakeholders to 
effective resolutions and decisions 

● The ability to thrive and innovate in a complex and politically charged environment of change and 
uncertainty 

● Confidence in constructively challenging information and explanations provided by others and 
negotiating when needed 

● Understanding of your own strengths and the strengths of others, and where these are best deployed 
to solve challenges 

● Ability to set and agree strategy across multiple organisations or sectors that brings together and 
satisfies different perspectives  

 
Values  
 

● Demonstrates respect and adopts a compassionate and inclusive leadership style with an 
understanding of inclusion (in respect of boards, patients and staff). 

● Creates and lives by the values of openness and transparency  

● Works to espouse the values set out in the NHS People Plan, Nolan Principles and soon to be published 
Leadership Way. 

● Demonstrate a strong commitment to public sector and NHS values  
 
Key Competencies 
 

• Outlined above in the roles and responsibilities / competencies section are the six competency 
domains that illustrate some of the key behaviours we expect an ICP Place Leader to exhibit.  

• The Place-Based Lead role and person specification have been agreed locally based on the national 
appointments to the ICS Chair and CEO roles. They will provide a consistent framework for assessment 
based around the emerging Leadership Competency Framework.  

 
Eligibility  
 

• Applicants should have strong connections with or a genuine interest in the area served by the Place- Based 
Partnership. 

 
  

Page 53



 

Page 8 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

Appendix 1 – Place Lead for Health and Care Integration Criteria 

• Place-based leaders must satisfy the following criteria: 
- Comply with the criteria of the “fit and proper person test” 
- Be willing to uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life (known as the Nolan Principles) 
- Fulfil the requirements relating to relevant experience, knowledge, skills and attributes set out in a 

role specification. 
- At all times act in line with the vison and values of GM Integrated Care. 
- In all things they do, demonstrate their commitment to tackling health inequalities within GM and 

between GM and the rest of the UK 

• Place-based leaders must not be disqualified from the following: 
- A Member of Parliament, or member of the London Assembly. 
- [A member of a local authority in England and Wales or of an equivalent body in Scotland or Northern 

Ireland – this is a limitation in the template constitution that we are advised will be implemented by 
regulation]. 

- A person who, within the period of five years immediately preceding the date of the proposed 
appointment, has been convicted in the United Kingdom of any offence, or  outside the United 
Kingdom of an offence which, if committed in any part of the United Kingdom, would constitute a 
criminal offence in that part, and, in either case, the final outcome of the proceedings was a sentence 
of imprisonment (whether suspended or not) for a period of not less than three months without the 
option of a fine. 

- A person who is subject to a bankruptcy restrictions order or an interim bankruptcy restrictions order 
under Schedule 4A to the Insolvency Act 1986, sections 56A to 56K of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 
1985 or Schedule 2A to the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Orde 1989 (which relate to bankruptcy 
restrictions orders and undertakings). 

- A person who, has been dismissed within the period of five years immediately preceding the date of 
the proposed appointment, otherwise than because of redundancy, from paid employment by any 
Health Service Body. 

- A person whose term of appointment as the chair, a member, a director or a governor of a health 
service body, has been terminated on the grounds:  

o that it was not in the interests of, or conducive to the good management of, the health service 
body or of the health service that the person should continue to hold that office 

o that the person failed, without reasonable cause, to attend any meeting of that health service 
body for three successive meetings 

o that the person failed to declare a pecuniary interest or withdraw from consideration of any 
matter in respect of which that person had a pecuniary interest, or of misbehaviour, 
misconduct or failure to carry out the person’s duties; 

- A health care professional (within the meaning of section 14N of the 2006 Act) or other professional 
person who has at any time been subject to an investigation or proceedings, by any body which 
regulates or licenses the profession concerned in connection with the person’s fitness to practise or 
any alleged fraud, the final outcome of which was 

o the person’s suspension from a register held by the regulatory body 
o where that suspension has not been terminated, the person’s erasure from such a register 
o where the person has not been restored to the register, a decision by the regulatory body 

which had the effect of preventing the person from practising the profession in question 
o where that decision has not been superseded, or a decision by the regulatory body which had 

the effect of imposing conditions on the person’s practice of the profession in question, where 
those conditions have not been lifted. 

- A person who is subject to— a disqualification order or disqualification undertaking under the 
Company Directors Disqualification Act 1986 or the Company Directors Disqualification (Northern 

Page 54



 

Page 9 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

Ireland) Order 2002, or an order made under section 429(2) of the Insolvency Act 1986 (disabilities on 
revocation of administration order against an individual) 

- A person who has at any time been removed from the office of charity trustee or trustee for a charity 
by an order made by the Charity Commissioners for England and Wales, the Charity Commission, the 
Charity Commission for Northern Ireland or the High Court, on the grounds of misconduct or 
mismanagement in the administration of the charity for which the person was responsible, to which 
the person was privy, or which the person by their conduct contributed to or facilitated. 

- A person who has at any time been removed, or is suspended, from the management or control of any 

body under— section 7 of the Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Scotland) Act 1990(f) (powers 

of the Court of Session to deal with the management of charities), or section 34(5) or of the Charities 

and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 (powers of the Court of Session to deal with the 

management of charities). 

• Place-based leaders must clearly show how the appointed person can create the conditions for the make-

up of GM Integrated Care to be representative, inclusive and balanced in diversity of thought and 

recognising the lived experience of the health inequalities of the communities in GM. 

• Place-based leaders must understand the ICS infrastructure and governance arrangements of the ICS. 
  

Page 55



 

Page 10 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

Appendix 2 – Nomination/appointment Process Principles - Place Lead for Health and Care Integration  

It is important to acknowledge that within each locality the Council will remain the place leader. The 

nomination process is to establish the Place Lead for Health and Care Integration. It is expected that the detail 

of the model at place may differ, however it is essential that the established model is in the best interest for 

that locality to enable the locality to deliver against the accountability framework. 

There are two defined models described within the accountability framework. If locality proposals differ from 

the options  set out in the accountability framework a clear rationale should be provided  which describes and 

justifies the difference and evidences the  full involvement and support of the Local Authority and other locality 

partners. 

The accountability framework states: 

All post holders should have a contractual relationship and dual accountability with NHS GM Integrated Care 

and with the Local Authority as the Place Leader; on behalf of the Locality Board.  This could be achieved in the 

following ways: 

1. Fully employed by the local authority  

2. Fully employed by NHS GM Integrated Care Board 

NB: Locality proposals for alternative arrangements will be considered. 

Any individual who holds the role of Place Lead for Health and Care Integration will require a fit and proper 

persons check to be carried out.  These checks will be conducted by GM Integrated Care  and renewed on an 

annual basis. 

Option One – Place Lead for Health and Care Integration  – undertaken by the Local Authority Chief Executive 

The nomination process must be owned and determined by the locality. NHS Greater Manchester Integrated 

Care Board interest in that is managed by having set out the role requirements in the Accountability 

Framework. 

The process should meet the following core principles and take the approach outlined below: 

1. The nomination should involve all key partners within each place.  These are anticipated to consist of 

the following: 

a. Local Authority 

b. Local Care Organisation/Primary/Secondary Care/Mental Health Provider(s) 

c. Local clinical representation 

d. VCSE representatives 

e. NHS GM Integrated Care Board representative  

f. Independent advisor 

 

2. The process should be fair and transparent and agreed within Shadow Locality Boards.  

 

3. Due regard should be given to equality, diversity and inclusion considerations.  

 

Page 56



 

Page 11 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

4. Localities wishing to take option one should nominate their Place Lead for Health and Care Integration 

the Place Lead for Health and Care Integration will have a contractual arrangement with their 

substantive employer and with NHS GM Integrated Care Board. 

 

5. The Place Lead for Health and Care Integration will hold dual accountability to the Locality Board at 

place and to the Chief Executive of NHS GM Integrated Care Board.  The nomination will need the 

following: 

a. Confirmed agreement of the Shadow Locality Board 

b. Ratification from Designate Chief Executive and/ or Designate Chair  from  NHS GM Integrated 

Care 

 

6. As the Place Lead for Health and Care Integration forms part of the Local Authority Chief Executive’s 

role localities should describe how activities within the accountability framework will be delivered.  

Where the place-lead is the local authority Chief Executive, they will need to be supported by a senior 

officer who would also be a member of the ICB locality team. This will be determined by the locality; 

however, examples are as follows: 

 

a. Within a current established role currently fulfilling the majority of the defined responsibilities.  

The post holder may currently be employed in this post within the system or within a statutory 

organisation within the locality.  

b. The locality may establish a new post employed by the NHS Greater Manchester Integrated 

Care Board to deliver the defined activities. A displaced employee may consider the new post 

similar to their existing post and therefore wish for the role to be considered suitable alterative 

employment. The employee will be required to submit a SAE request, and this will be 

considered before moving to next steps. 

c. Localities will work closely with GM Integrated Care to ensure that a fair a transparent process 

is followed; opportunities should be made available to all displaced board level colleagues as 

a ring-fenced opportunity. 

d. External recruitment processes will be enacted should the role remain unfilled. 

 

Option Two  - Place Lead for Health and Care Integration – Employed by NHS Greater Manchester Integrated 

Care Board  

Should a locality determine that the Lead for Health and Care Integration will be a full-time role with the 

responsibility for  delivering the requirements of the accountability framework, they will be employed by GM 

Integrated Care with dual accountability to the GM IC CEO and local Authority CEO via the place-based board.  

The post holder will be the head of the locality team. 

The process should meet the following core principles and take the approach outlined below: 

1. The appointment should involve all key partners within each place.  These are anticipated to consist 

of the following: 

a. Local Authority 

b. Local Care Organisation/Primary/Secondary Care/Mental Health Provider(s) 

c. Local clinical representation 

d. VCSE representatives 

Page 57



 

Page 12 of 12 
Final Version – March 2022 

e. NHS GM Integrated Care Board representative  

f. Independent advisor 

 

2. The process should be fair and transparent and agreed within Shadow Locality Boards.  

 

3. Due regard should be given to equality, diversity and inclusion considerations.  

 

4. Localities wishing to take option two should confirm their proposals to establish a Place Lead for Health 

and Care Integration who will  be employed by NHS GM Integrated Care Board  and have a contractual 

arrangement with the locality Board via the Local Authority. 

The process for this will be: 

a. A displaced employee may consider the new post similar to their existing post and therefore 

wish for the role to be considered suitable alterative employment. The employee will be 

required to submit a SAE request, and this will be considered before moving to next steps.   

b. Localities will work closely with GM Integrated Care to ensure that a fair a transparent process 

is followed; opportunities should be made available to all displaced board level colleagues as 

a ring-fenced opportunity.   

c. External recruitment processes will be enacted should the role remain unfilled. 

 

Option Three  - Place Lead for Health and Care Integration – Locality proposals for alternative arrangements 

will be considered. 

 

If locality proposals differ from the options  set out in the accountability framework a clear rationale 

should be provided  which describes and justifies the difference and evidences the  full involvement 

and support of the Local Authority and other locality partners. 

 

Next Steps: 

1. Locality model to be agreed by Shadow Locality Boards at place.  Confirmed to GM Integrated Care by 14 

April 2022. 

2. Locality nomination process to be agreed and conducted  by Shadow Locality Boards at place, if required. 

3. Proposed nomination should be submitted to NHS GM Integrated Care for ratification by  22 April 2022. 

4. Where an appointment/recruitment process is required localities and GM Integrated Care to agree 

timeframes and process from May 2022. 

 

Page 58



Document is Restricted

Page 59 Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67 Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Proposed changes to the Employee Code of Conduct and Officer Employment Procedure
	4 Health and Social Care Place Based Lead and Executive Lead
	GM Place Based Lead accountability framework - Final 160322 (002)

	6 Permanent appointment of the Executive Director of Children & Young people
	7 Redesignation of the post of Democratic Services Manager to Head of Democratic Services

